IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 74,248

JAMES FRANKLIN ROSE,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BILLY H. NOLAS Special Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0806812

•

•

JULIE D. NAYLOR Special Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0794351

Post Office Box 7237 Tallahassee, FL 32314-7237 (904) 668-5612 LARRY HELM SPALDING Capital Collateral Representative Florida Bar No. 0125540

GAIL E. ANDERSON Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0841544

JOHN SOMMER Staff Attorney Florida Bar No. 862126

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Rose was charged with first degree murder and kidnapping, and entered a plea of not guilty. At the original trial, the jury could not reach a verdict and a mistrial was declared (T. 1480). At the retrial, the jury convicted after receiving an <u>Allen-type</u> charge, and a judgment of conviction was entered on May 6, 1977. The jury, after telling the trial court that it was deadlocked at a 6-6 vote on the recommendation of a penalty, was instructed with another <u>Allen-type</u> charge, and eventually returned a recommendation of death. Mr. Rose was sentenced to death. On appeal, this Court affirmed the convictions, but vacated the sentence of death, and directed that a new jury sentencing be held. <u>Rose v. State</u>, 425 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 1982).

Upon retrial of the penalty phase, the death penalty was reimposed and this Court affirmed. <u>Rose v. State</u>, 461 So. 2d 84 (Fla. 1984). On August 5, 1986, a death warrant was signed. On August 18, 1986, Mr. Rose filed an original habeas corpus petition and motion for stay of execution in this Court. This Court granted a stay of execution in order to consider the habeas petition, but subsequently denied relief. <u>Rose v. Dugger</u>, 508 So. 2d 321 (Fla. 1987).

Mr. Rose filed a 3.850 motion in the trial court presenting valid prima facie claims for relief. The State responded that as to a number of the factual claims presented, "[t]he State agrees that in order to determine the validity of [the claims] it is necessary to hold an evidentiary hearing" (R. 117, Response to Motion to Vacate). The trial court nevertheless denied a hearing and signed an order drafted by the State which contradicted the State's own earlier position that a hearing was necessary. Mr. Rose's counsel was not provided with any reasonable opportunity to object or respond to the State's order. A rehearing motion filed on behalf of Mr. Rose was summarily

denied by the trial court.

Timely notice of appeal was filed. This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The circuit court erred in the manner in which it treated the Rule 3.850 motion and in denying relief without conducting an evidentiary hearing. Mr. Rose's Rule 3.850 motion presented claims which have been traditionally resolved through an evidentiary hearing and detailed specific facts in support of these claims. The State's response agreed that an evidentiary hearing was required to resolve many of these claims. Nevertheless, the circuit court summarily denied relief by signing an order prepared by the State which contradicted the State's own position and which did not attach specific parts of the record refuting the claims. An evidentiary hearing was required on the Rule 3.850 motion because the files and records do not conclusively refute Mr. Rose's allegations.

Further, the trial court erred in its treatment of the Rule 3.850 motion. The motion was filed by an assistant public defender who was allowed to withdraw as counsel for Mr. Rose by the trial court. CCR then undertook Mr. Rose's representation, a fact known to the trial court and the State. However, when the State later prepared an order denying relief and presented the order to the trial court, CCR was not served with the order or provided any opportunity to object to it. The trial court signed the order, and a copy of the signed order was not provided to CCR by the court or the State, but by former counsel. The trial court's treatment of the Rule 3.850 motion violated fundamental principles of due process. This case should be remanded for a full and fair evidentiary hearing and for proper resolution of the issues.

2. Mr. Rose was deprived of the effective assistance of counsel at the guilt and penalty phases of his capital proceedings. At the guilt phase,

the State's case was weak and entirely circumstantial. One trial ended in a mistrial when the jury could not reach a verdict, and the second jury reached a verdict only after receiving an <u>Allen</u> charge. Substantial evidence was available which contradicted the State's case. This evidence would have undermined the State's theories as to the manner of death, the time of death, and the motive. Defense counsel, however, unreasonably and without a tactic failed to use this readily available evidence. There is more than a reasonable probability that presentation of this evidence would have affected the quilt verdict in this circumstantial case.

At resentencing, defense counsel failed to investigate, develop, and present available mitigating evidence. Defense counsel was completely unfamiliar with capital sentencing proceedings and was unprepared for the resentencing. Evidence regarding Mr. Rose's capacity for rehabilitation and adaptability to imprisonment, his impaired intelligence, his alcoholism, his schizoid personality disorder, his possible organic brain damage, and his difficult childhood was not presented because defense counsel failed to investigate and prepare. There is more than a reasonable probability that presentation of this evidence would have affected the outcome of the resentencing. An evidentiary hearing and relief are required.

3. The manner in which the victim was killed was misrepresented at trial, either because of an incompetent medical assessment, the State's use of false or misleading testimony, or both. The State's medical examiner testified that the victim died as a result of severe head injuries, and testified that these injuries could have been caused by a hammer. The State relied heavily upon this hammer theory. However, another medical examiner, who examined the same materials relied upon by the State's medical examiner, unequivocally testified in deposition that a hammer could not have caused the victim's injuries, which instead resulted from her head hitting a broad flat

surfact. The State knew that it could manipulate its medical examiner to say what the State wanted and knew about his lack of expertise. The false and misleading evidence infected both the guilt phase and the resentencing. An evidentiary hearing and relief are required.

The State knowingly used false testimony concerning Mr. Rose's 4. statements to law enforcement, and trial counsel was ineffective in failing to fully challenge the admission of these statements. Police extracted several statements during extensive custodial questioning of Mr. Rose. Some of these statements were suppressed as violative of Miranda. Other statements, however, which were obtained in violation of Mr. Rose's right to counsel, were admitted at trial because the State misrepresented the facts surrounding Mr. Rose's invocation of his right to counsel. Police testimony indicated that Mr. Rose had asked to consult with counsel and was permitted to contract an attorney. Police portrayed Mr. Rose's phone call to counsel as a sham, and the State argued that the call was a fake. In fact, Mr. Rose had contacted private counsel, who refused to represent Mr. Rose because Mr. Rose owed counsel money from a prior representation. In fact, police knew that Mr. Rose had been refused representation, because a police officer called counsel, who told the officer he could not represent Mr. Rose due to the prior debt. Mr. Rose was thus denied counsel because of indigency, and the police initiated further questioning, obtaining statements admitted at trial. Mr. Rose did not waive his right to counsel. An evidentiary hearing and relief are required.

5. Mr. Rose's in-custody statements were obtained and admitted in violation of his right to counsel, and <u>Edwards v. Arizona</u> requires suppression of those statements. Mr. Rose's case was pending on apeal when <u>Edwards</u> was decided, but this Court did not apply <u>Edwards</u>. The Court should reexamine this claim and grant relief.

The resentencing court's refusal to allow evidence and argument 6. regarding whether Mr. Rose's conviction rested upon premeditated or felony murder or to provide instructions defining premeditated and felony murder violated the sixth, eighth, and fourteenth amendments. During resentencing, the jury was repeatedly informed that Mr. Rose's guilt was not at issue, and the defense request that the jury be instructed on premeditated and felony murder was denied. Thus, Mr. Rose was denied the opportunity to present powerful evidence and argument bearing upon his degree of culpability and the propriety of a death sentence. The individual culpability of a capital defendant is the key to determining whether death is appropriate. Essential to determining individual culpability is the mental state with which the crime was committed. In Mr. Rose's case, the State's evidence was insufficient to establish any intent to commit murder or the underlying felony of kidnapping. It is no accident that the only jury forbidden from wrestling with the weakness of the State's case was also the only jury to recommend death by other than a bare margin. The resentencing jury was precluded from considering the circumstances of the offense as a basis for a sentence less than death. The death sentence is disproportionate and violates the eighth and fourteenth amendments. Relief is proper.

7. Several constitutional errors possibly occurred during the jury's deliberations at the guilt phase, but no record was made of that portion of the proceedings. An evidentairy hearing is necessary in order to reconstruct the record and in order to allow Mr. Rose to establish his entitlement to relief.

C

ARGUMENT

ARGUMENT I

THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN THE MANNER IN WHICH IT TREATED THE MOTION TO VACATE AND IN ITS SUMMARY DENIAL OF RELIEF AND THIS CASE SHOULD BE REMANDED FOR A FULL AND FAIR EVIDENTIARY HEARING.

A. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN NOT ALLOWING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING

Mr. Rose presented the Rule 3.850 trial court claims for relief which required an evidentiary hearing for their proper resoluution. The issues presented included claims of ineffective assistance of counsel at capital trial and sentencing, violations of Brady v. Maryland and its progeny, and other factual claims for relief. The claims presented specifically pled allegations of fact, including matters that are not of-record, while nothing in the files and records rebutted the allegations. This case thus involved classic Rule 3.850 evidentiary issues which have been traditionally resolved through evidentiary hearings in Florida capital cases. An evidentiary hearing was required in this case. Indeed, in its response to the motion to vacate, "[t]he State agree[d] that in order to determine the validity [of a number of the claims presented below and discussed herein] it is necessary to hold an evidentiary hearing ... (R. 117, Response to Motion to Vacate) (emphasis added). The trial court, however, summarily denied relief by signing an order prepared by the State (see section B, infra) which directly contradicted the State's own position and which did not "attach those specific parts of the record that directly refute each claim raised." Hoffman v. State, 571 So. 2d 449, 450 (Fla. 1990). The failure to attach files and records was error, Hoffman, and is explainable by the fact that the files and records did not conclusively rebut the claims, as the State originally agreed. The error in the court's adoption of the State's order is discussed in section B, infra. The error in denying an evidentiary hearing is manifest in light of the fact that valid, factual prima facie claims for relief were presented, claims which

were not rebutted by the files and records, and which therefore required an evidentiary hearing for proper resolution.

Where, as here, the motion for post-conviction relief presents valid prima facie claims and the record does not conclusively show that relief is not appropriate, a capital defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850; <u>Lemon v. State</u>, 498 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1986). As noted, no portions of the files and records were attached to the order denying relief. <u>See Hoffman; Squires v. State</u>, 513 So. 2d 138 (Fla. 1987); <u>Gorham v.</u> <u>State</u>, 521 So. 2d 1067 (Fla. 1988). It is not sufficient to direct the clerk of court to attach the entire record on appeal to the order, yet this is what the trial court did here (R. 487), when it signed the State's proposed order. This is the very same erroneous disposition of a motion to vacate which this Court recently discussed in <u>Hoffman</u>.

The granting of an evidentiary hearing is required when the defendant presents claims demonstrating "that he might be entitled to relief under rule 3.850." <u>State ex rel. Russell v. Schaeffer</u>, 467 So. 2d 698, 699 (Fla. 1985). Mr. Rose made that showing. A Rule 3.850 litigant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing unless "the motion and the files and records in the case conclusively show that the prisoner is entitled to no relief." Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850; <u>Lemon v. State</u>, 498 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1986); <u>State v. Crews</u>, 477 So. 2d 984 (Fla. 1985); <u>O'Callaghan v. State</u>, 461 So. 2d 1354 (Fla. 1984); <u>Mason v. State</u>, 489 So. 2d 734, 735-37 (Fla. 1986). Mr. Rose's verified Rule 3.850 motion alleged prima facie claims for relief based on non-record facts and supported those claims with factual allegations. No files and records conclusively rebutted the claims and no such records were attached to the order. The claims could only be resolved at a full and fair evidentiary hearing. Obviously, for example, the question of whether a capital inmate was

denied effective assistance of counsel during either the capital guiltinnocence or penalty phase proceedings is a classic example of a claim requiring an evidentiary hearing for its proper resolution. <u>See Heiney v.</u> <u>Dugger, 558 So. 2d 398 (Fla. 1990); Mills v. Dugger, 559 So. 2d 578 (Fla.</u> 1990); <u>Squires; O'Callaghan; Lemon; Groover v. State</u>, 489 So. 2d 15 (Fla. 1986). Mr. Rose's claim that he was denied mental health mitigation due to failures on the part of counsel and the lack of professionally adequate mental health assistance is also a traditionally-recognized Rule 3.850 evidentiary claim. <u>Mills; Groover; State v. Sireci</u>, 502 So. 2d 1221 (Fla. 1987). Mr. Rose's claims involving violations of <u>Brady</u> and its progeny are also classic evidentiary claims requiring a full and fair hearing for their proper resolution. <u>See Lightbourne v. State</u>, 549 So. 2d 1304 (Fla. 1989); <u>Hoffman;</u> <u>Squires; Gorham</u>.

Here, the State conceded that an evidentiary hearing was needed on a number of the claims presented; as to other claims, the State contested the factual claims pled. The forum in which to resolve such contests is in a full and fair evidentiary hearing. A hearing is required to resolve contested factual claims where, as here, the facts which need to be considered in order for the claims to be resolved are not "of record." <u>See O'Callaghan; Heiney;</u> Vaught v. State, 442 So. 2d 217, 219 (Fla. 1983).

The motion in this case alleged sufficient facts to show that Mr. Rose may be entitled to relief, <u>O'Callaghan</u>; the files and records do not conclusively demonstrate that Mr. Rose is entitled to no relief, <u>Lemon</u>; no such files and records were attached to the order denying relief, <u>Hoffman</u>; and the State agreed that a hearing was necessary on a number of the claims (R. 117). A full and fair evidentiary hearing is proper in this case, as was deemed proper by this Court in the various cases cited and by the State in its response to the motion to vacate. The trial court erred in denying an

evidentiary hearing.

в.

THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN ITS TREATMENT OF THE MOTION TO VACATE

On June 3, 1987, former counsel for Mr. Rose, Steven H. Malone, an Assistant Public Defender with the West Palm Beach Public Defender's office, filed a Motion to Vacate on Mr. Rose's behalf. After the State filed a motion to "determine" counsel, the Public Defender's Office responded that "we believe it is now necessary that conflict-<u>free</u> counsel be appointed to ensure that every issue is fairly pursued in this and future collateral proceedings in state, and if necessary, the United States courts" (Response to Motion to Determine Counsel, p. 2). Thereafter, on March 21, 1988, the Public Defender's Office withdrew from Mr. Rose's case, and the Office of the Capital Collateral Representative (CCR) undertook Mr. Rose's representation. A formal proceeding had been held on the withdrawal issue -- the Court and opposing counsel knew that CCR had undertaken Mr. Rose's representation.

On March 15, 1989, CCR received a letter from Mr. Malone to the Honorable M. Daniel Futch, Jr., with an attached proposed order (<u>See</u> R. 488-513, Motion for Rehearing and attachments, describing these circumstances). Mr. Malone had received the proposed order from the State; the State had prepared the order and forwarded it to the Public Defender's Office (<u>Id</u>.). Counsel was never notified whether there were any communications between the Court and the State's representatives, whether the Court had requested any proposed orders, or why it was that an order, out-of-the-blue, happened to be forwarded to the Court for its signature (<u>Id</u>.). The order not only was in conflict with the requirements of Rule 3.850 (e.g., by ruling on issues of fact without allowing an evidentiary hearing and without referring to any portions of the record conclusively showing that Mr. Rose was not entitled to relief, etc.), but also was in conflict with the State's own earlier

submission that an evidentiary hearing was necessary.

Mr. Malone, not the State and not the Court, forwarded the proposed order to the CCR office. No communication was received by CCR from the Court or the State. However, before CCR could prepare an objection to the State's order, CCR learned (not through opposing counsel and not from the Court) that an order denying relief had been issued (R. 488-513). This order was identical to the State's in every respect.

On March 22, 1989, CCR received the order signed by the Court denying Mr. Rose's Motion to Vacate. The Order is dated March 13, 1989 (i.e., almost immediately after the Court received it), and is identical to the proposed order prepared by the State. Also on March 22, 1989, CCR was copied a letter from Mr. Malone to the Honorable M. Daniel Futch, Jr., restating that the Public Defender's Office was no longer involved in Mr. Rose's case (R. 488-513). Absolutely no notice was provided to Mr. Rose's counsel that the Court was about to sign the proposed order. Indeed, the Court signed it well before counsel had any chance to respond. Not even the normal period of time for the filing of responses generally allowed under the rules of procedure was permitted.

In submitting a proposed order, the State presented to the Court findings and rulings in the light most favorable to its position. It used the order to amend and strengthen its arguments on the issues. The order is a self-serving document written without the benefit of any evidentiary resolution of the issues. And there was no reasonable opportunity to respond to it.

When a court is required to make findings of fact, "the findings must be based on something more than a one-sided presentation of the evidence . . . [and] require the exercise by an impartial tribunal of its function of weighing and appraising evidence offered, not by one party to the controversy,

but by both." <u>Simms v. Greene</u>, 161 F.2d 87, 89 (3rd Cir. 1947). A deathsentenced inmate deserves at least as much.

[T]he reviewing court deserves the assurance [given by even-handed consideration of the evidence of both parties] that the trial court has come to grips with apparently irreconcilable conflicts in the evidence... and has distilled therefrom true facts in the crucible of his conscience.

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