IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

| CLERK | , SUP | REME | COURT |
|-------|----------|---------|-------|
| By | | | erk |
| C | hief. De | puty Ch | erk |

SEP 3 1991

CASE NO. 74,248

JAMES FRANKLIN ROSE,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA A. TERENZIO

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 656879 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (407) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellee

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellee adopts the same symbols for record reference as utilized by appellant.

- R denotes this record on appeal.
- S denotes resentencing record.
- T denotes the original trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellant was convicted and sentenced to death on May 7, 1977. The details of the crime and relevant evidence to sustain the conviction are outlined in the this Court's opinion at <u>Rose</u> <u>v. State</u>, 425 So.2d 521, 522-523 (Fla. 1983). Appellant's sentence was reversed based on an <u>Allen</u>-type error. <u>Rose</u>, 425 So.2d at 525. Appellant was again sentenced to death, which was affirmed on the second direct appeal. <u>Rose v. State</u>, 461 So.2d 84 (Fla. 1985). Pursuant to a death warrant appellant filed a writ of habeas corpus, this Court granted a stay but ultimately denied all relief. <u>Rose v. State</u>, 508 So.2d 321 (Fla. 1987). Appellant then filed a motion for post-conviction relief which was denied by the trial court and forms the basis of the instant appeal.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. The trial court properly decided the merits of the motion absent an evidentiary hearing. The trial court's order indicates that the issues were either procedurally barred or denied on the basis of the record already established.

Appellant has failed to establish any due process violation from the fact that the trial court adopted an order drafted by the state.

2. The trial court properly determined that appellant has failed to establish that he received ineffective assistance of counsel at either phase of his trial. Such a determination was properly made based on the record already established.

3. The trial court correctly determined that any allegation regarding incompetent or false testimony should have been raised on direct appeal and therefore is procedurally barred. The trial court also determined that appellant has failed to establish that the medical examiner was incompetent. The opinion of the two doctors are not materially different, consequently the state did not present misleading testimony.

4. This issue is procedurally barred as the admissibility of appellant's statements was raised on direct The trial court was correct in ruling that appellant appeal. failed to establish prejudice regarding trial counsel's performance in dealing with the admissibility of his statements.

- 3 -

5. The trial court properly determined that his <u>Miranda</u> claim was procedurally barred. This claim is also without merit as any error must be considered harmless as the statements were cumulative to other evidence presented.

6. The trial court correctly determined that any challenge to the resentencing proceedings is procedurally barred for failing to raise it on direct appeal. The remainder of this claim was raised on direct appeal and is therefore also procedurally barred. Furthermore the entire claim lacks merit.

7. The trial court correctly determined that any issue regarding an <u>Ivory</u> error or improper jury separation is procedurally barred as it has previously been litigated in the habeas petition. In the alternative, this issue should have been raised on direct appeal.

- 4 -

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED RELIEF WITHOUT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING

Appellant claims that the trial court erred in deciding the merits of this motion absent an evidentiary hearing. Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel and withholding of exculpatory evidence are traditionally those types of claims where such a hearing is held. However the law has never required an evidentiary hearing merely because such a "traditional claim" has been alleged. An evidentiary hearing is not required where the record conclusively demonstrates that the defendant is not entitled to relief. Agan v. State, 503 So.2d 1254 (Fla. 1987); Swafford v. Dugger, 569 So.2d 1264, 1267 (Fla. 1990); Kennedy v. State, 547 So.2d 912 (Fla. 1989).

In the instant case the trial court's order states a rationale that is based on the record which either refutes the claim or demonstrates that relief is not warranted. (R 481-487). <u>Hoffman v. State</u>, 571 So.2d 449, 450 (Fla. 1990). Regardless of the state's position that an evidentiary could have been conducted, the trial court did not error in failing to do so.

Appellee will address the propriety of the trial court's refusal to conduct an evidentiary hearing in the merits section of each specific claim where such a hearing was requested.

The fact that the state filed a proposed order which was later adopted by the trial court does not demonstrate any due

- 5 -

process violation. Appellant filed a motion for post-conviction relief, the state filed a response and the trial court denied the motion. There has been no allegation that any exparte communications were conducted between the state and the court. Any disagreement with the trial court's order is properly before this Court as an appeal of the that order. Appellant has failed to demonstrate that he was denied a fair review of all his claims.

POINT II

APPELLANT RECEIVED THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT BOTH PHASES OF HIS TRIAL

A. GUILT PHASE

Appellant alleges that trial counsel committed seventeen errors at the guilt phase of his trial. The trial court determined that appellant had failed to establish prejudice and denied the claim without an evidentiary hearing. (R 481-482). The trial court's ruling was correct. <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 697, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, 699, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984); <u>Swafford v. Dugger</u>, 549 So.2d 1264, 1267 (Fla. 1990).

i. Appellant claims that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to call Dr.Davis, a forensic expert, who would have provided rebuttal testimony against the state's medical examiner. Specifically appellant claims that Dr. Davis would have negated the state's theory regarding the nature of the murder weapon. Appellant also claims that the trial court should have granted an evidentiary hearing regarding this claim. Appellee disagrees.

The essence of Dr. Davis's findings are in agreement with Dr. Fatteh's conclusions regarding the cause of death. Both experts agreed that death was caused by a fractured skull. Both agreed that the force used to sustain those injuries was blunt trauma. (S 765-766,748,773-774,764, T 679,686,687,706,708,713). Dr. Davis opined that the injuries were not the result of a hammer. (S 788). Dr. Fatteh testified that the murder weapon could have been a hammer but he really could not be sure. (T 686688,706). He further testified that the injuries could also have been caused by hitting a concrete floor or furniture, or by being kicked. (T 688, 706). Appellee asserts that trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to call Dr. Davis at the guilt phase. A <u>possible</u> disagreement over the nature of the murder weapon is not information which would have changed the outcome of the proceedings. <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 694). The trial court correctly denied this claim without an evidentiary hearing. Swafford.

ii. Next appellant claims that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to rebut the state's evidence regarding the last time Lisa was seen. Specifically appellant claims the following;

A. Trial counsel did not adequately impeach Walter Isler regarding his testimony. A review of the record dispels this claim.

On cross-examination defense counsel did impeach Mr. Isler by referring to a prior statement that he made to Detective McLellan regarding the last time he had seen Lisa alive. (T. 756 lines 12-25, 757). Failure to introduce a transcript of the prior statement or call Detective McLellan is not deficient performance under <u>Strickland</u>. Counsel is not required to pursue ever line of defense based on a particular claim nor can counsel be required to utilize every means of impeachment. <u>Jackson v.</u> <u>Dugger</u>, 547 So.2d 1197, 1200 (Fla. 1989).

- 8 -

b-f. Appellant next claims that five potential witnesses could have provided statements that Lisa was seen after 10:30-11:00 P.M. that night. Appellee has not seen these statements to evaluate their exculpatory value and they have not been made apart of the record. Appellee urges this Court to require appellant to supplement the record with these statements.

In any event even if these witnesses were called to say that Lisa was seen at 10:30, 11:00 or even 11:45 that night the statements would have done little to negate the impact of the Lisa's sister saw her for the last time standing by following; the bowling alley door with appellant. (T. 376). Lisa's mother could not find Lisa around the same time appellant called her at 10:23. (T. 358). Several witnesses, including her closet relatives who would have recognized her better than anyone else, testified that Lisa was never seen again after appellant returned to the bowling alley around 11:30 that night. (T. 302,307,363). The inconsistent statements regarding the time Lisa was last seen does nothing to explain appellant's suspicious behavior i.e., frequent trips to and from the bowling alley, changing his clothes, attempts to cover up the blood on his pants and inconsistent statements regarding the explanation for the existence of the blood. (T. 309,325-330, 350, 361,381-388,422). Nor do the inconsistent statements explain how Lisa's clothes or blood matching Lisa's type turned up in appellant's van. The evidence against appellant was overwhelming. Rose v. State, 425 So.2d 521, 522-523 (Fla. 1983).

- 9 --

The trial court properly found that the statements would not have changed the outcome of the proceedings had they been introduced. <u>Strickland</u>. <u>Jones v. State</u>, 528 So.2d 1171, 1173-1174 (Fla. 1988).

iii. Appellant next claims that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to properly challenge the state's theory regarding a motive for the killing. Appellant claims that trial counsel should have impeached Isler's "breakfast" statement. The state never claimed that appellant became enraged, upset or angry upon hearing Lisa's comment to Isler. The only evidence Isler's testimony that upon hearing Lisa's presented was statement appellant looked at Isler as if to say, what was going on. (T. 741). Impeachment of that statement was not necessary as it was not prejudicial. Other evidence of appellant's jealousy consisted of Mrs. Berry testimony regarding appellant's jealous behavior. Appellant's jealousy resulted in a threat to Mrs. Berry prior to that night. (T. 785-786). Consequently, impeachment of Isler's statement would not have undermined the state's characterization of appellant as a jealous person. Appellant has failed to establish any prejudice.

iv. The next allegation regarding ineffective assistance of counsel concerns trial counsel's failure to introduce "compelling" evidence to support a defense theory that two other boys committed the crime. This "compelling" evidence is a statement from Jim Hughes that appellant's van at one point prior to the night of the murder had "monkey decals" on the

- 10 -

windows, however those decals were not on the windows the night of the offense. Appellee asserts that this statement does not support any theory of innocence.

At trial Hughes testified that he had only seen the van from the rear (T 823), consequently it is possible that the decals were there but unnoticed due to the angle in which the van was seen. Furthermore, Hughes stated in his deposition that he <u>knew</u> the van as he had seen it more than once. That statement can hardly support the defense's theory regarding other suspects. Consistent with Hughes's statement is the fact that no one else saw or described appellant's van as having monkey decals on the windows that night. Lastly, it is not beyond the realm of possibility that appellant removed the decals prior to that night.

Another example of appellant's "compelling" evidence is a statement from Margaret Cobb who said that she saw a white van at the sight where the body was found between 11:55 p.m. and 12:05 a.m. Appellant claims that other evidence offered by the state indicated that he was at the bowling alley at that time. Appellant claims that this evidence is important as it disproves the state's theory that appellant was at the crime scene. Appellant is in error. Consistent with Cobb's statement is the testimony of Barbara Danello and Officer Walker who saw appellant leave the bowling alley at approximately 11:40-11:45 p.m. (T. 803-806), he returned after 12:17 p.m. (T.856-857). Cobb's statement was inculpatory as it corroborated Danello and Walkers'

- 11 -

testimony. Its admissibility would certainly not have changed the outcome of the proceedings.

v. Appellant claims that additional errors were made by defense counsel which constitute ineffective assistance of counsel. Appellant has failed to demonstrate either deficient performance or prejudice regarding any of the following claims.

a. On direct appeal appellant claimed that three potential jurors were impermissibly excused in violation of <u>Witherspoon v. Illinois</u>, 391 U.S 510 (1968). This court refused to reach the merits of that claim since it was not preserved for appeal. <u>Rose v. State</u>, 425 So.2d 521, 524 (Fla. 1983). Appellant now claims that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the removal of the potential jurors. A review of the record demonstrates that an objection was not warranted for the removal of any of the potential jurors.

There was no <u>Witherspoon</u> violation regarding the removal of three potential jurors. Roberta Kendrick stated that she would be unable to convict appellant of a crime due to her strong belief against the death penalty. (T 1604-1605). Nellie Mills was excused because of her inability to reach a decision where death was involved. (T 1663). Harley Peoples did not say he was opposed to the death penalty, but that he would not want to make a decision on a person's life and he could not play God. (T 1662-1664).

Any error must be considered harmless as appellant ultimately received a new sentencing hearing anyway. <u>Rose</u>, <u>supra</u>.

- 12 -

Since <u>Witherspoon</u> error is not applicable to the guilt phase, the issue is moot. <u>Id</u>, 391 U.S. 510, 513, 20 L.Ed. 2d 776, 780, 88 S.Ct. 1770 (1968); <u>Lockhart v. McCree</u>, 470 U.S 162, 183, 90 L.Ed.2d 137, 154, 106 S.Ct. 1758 (1986).

b. Appellant argues that trial counsel should have obtained the services of an independent expert to examine the crushed hair of the victim. Such an expert would have cautioned against trying to establish any significance to the fact that the hair sample was crushed. Such an expert was not needed as trial counsel was able to elicit from the forensic chemist that he could not state how the hair was crushed or that it was crushed while still on the victim's head. (T 1134).

Appellant cannot establish prejudice as the probative value of the evidence is the fact that the hair crushed or not crushed belonged to the victim and it was found in the appellant's sock. (T 1129).

c. Appellant claims that trial counsel should have moved for a mistrial after he objected to the following prosecutorial remark:

> If the Court instructs you that a person's credibility is determined by his prior convictions, is there any of you who would just ignore the law and say "Well, I am not going to consider that"?

> > (T. 1633)

The trial court gave the following curative instruction:

I am going to instruct you that we are talking about how to determine the

credibility of all the witnesses, anybody that might take the witness the stand.

(T. 1634)

The prosecutor's comments were not a reference to appellant's convictions but a general comment regarding all witnesses. If any error occurred it was properly remedied with the curative instruction. A motion for mistrial would not have been granted. <u>Duest v. State</u>, 462 So.2d 446, 448 (Fla. 1985); <u>Ferguson v. State</u>, 417 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1982); <u>James v. State</u>, 429 So.2d 1362, 1363 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983).

d. Trial counsel did not object to the prosecutor's comment that the jury should "fulfill their obligation". An objection was not necessary as the prosecutor outlined the facts to be presented and then made the comment in the context of that based on that evidence the jury would need to convict a guilty defendant. (T. 660). When properly viewed the comment was not improper. <u>Spaziano v. State</u>, 429 So.2d 1344 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983); <u>Lane v. State</u>, 353 So.2d 194 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1977); <u>Maggard v.</u> <u>State</u>, 399 So.2d 973, 976 (Fla. 1981).

e. Appellant claims that trial counsel failed to renew his objection to Dr. Fatteh's speculation as to the identity of the murder weapon. Trial counsel did renew his objection to Fatteh's opinion. (T 686, 687). In any event Fatteh stated that he was unable to say what particular type of instrument caused the fatal injuries. (T 687-688).

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